Die 4"

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

NOV 10 1997

CASE NO. 91,270

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By____

Chief Deputy Clerk

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-VS-

STEVEN RUBIN,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0239437 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Rivergate Plaza, Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441 Fax 377-5655

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, the **STATE OF FLORIDA**, was the Appellee below. The Respondent, **STEVEN RUBIN**, was the Appellant below. The parties will be referred to as the State and the Defendant. The symbol "R" will designate the record on appeal, the symbol "T" will designate the transcript of proceedings and the symbol "A" will designate the Appendix to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Defendant was charged in a sixteen count information with two counts of burglary of on occupied structure, one count of burglary of an unoccupied structure, seven counts of grand theft third degree, two counts of petit theft, two counts of felony criminal mischief, one count of misdemeanor criminal mischief, and one count of conspiracy to commit burglary. (R. 34-48). After a jury trial the Defendant was found guilty as charged. (R. 225-232).

At sentencing the trial court used an incorrect score sheet. This score sheet totaled 70.38 points equivalent to 42.38 months State prison, with a minimum of 31.785 months in State prison and a maximum of 52.975 months State prison. (R. 351-352). The correct score sheet totaled 58.6 points equivalent to 30.6 months State prison, with a minimum of 22.9 months in State prison and a maximum of 38.2 months State prison. (R. 280-282). The trial court then upwardly departed from the guidelines and imposed an 8 year sentence where the maximum permitted by law was 15 years. (R. 370-373).

On appeal the Third District reversed the Defendant's departure sentence on the ground that the trial court relied upon an incorrectly calculated score sheet. (A. 2). On rehearing the Third District certified that the foregoing holding expressly and directly conflicts with *Hines v. State*, 587 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991), which holds that an upward departure based on an incorrect score sheet is subject to the harmless error doctrine. (A. 4).

The Third District then stayed its mandate and this petition for review followed.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE USE OF AN INCORRECT SENTENCING GUIDELINES SCORE SHEET IS HARMLESS ERROR WHERE THE SCORE SHEET ERROR IS IN THE STATE'S FAVOR AND THE TRIAL COURT SENTENCE IS AN UPWARD DEPARTURE FROM THE GUIDELINES SENTENCE.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District held that where there is a score sheet error, it could not apply a harmless error analysis to uphold the sentence even where it is found that beyond a reasonable doubt that the record establishes that the trial judge would have imposed the same departure sentence notwithstanding the score sheet error. The State submits that the Third District's decision should be quashed since it is out of step with the current view of harmless error in criminal cases.

This Court has held that a per se reversible error rule is only appropriate for those errors that vitiate the right to a fair trial and therefore are always harmful. This Court no longer bases a per se reversible error rule on the assumption that an appellate court can not be certain that all other types of error are harmful. This Court now holds that where a reviewing court can say beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not prejudiced by the error it was harmless.

Therefore, the same legal principle should be applied where, despite an incorrect score sheet, the trial court departs from the sentencing guidelines. This type of error does not vitiate the right to a fair trial and thus is subject to the harmless error doctrine.

ARGUMENT

THE USE OF AN INCORRECT SENTENCING GUIDELINES SCORE SHEET IS HARMLESS ERROR WHERE THE SCORE SHEET ERROR IS IN THE STATE'S FAVOR AND THE TRIAL COURT SENTENCE IS AN UPWARD DEPARTURE FROM THE GUIDELINES SENTENCE.

The proper procedure for imposing a guidelines sentence requires the sentencing judge to consider the applicable recommended range before exercising the discretion to deviate therefrom. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(d)8. The purpose of this rule is consistent with the theory of the guidelines that a correct calculation of the score sheet is essential to establish a valid base for the trial court's exercise of its discretion in determining an appropriate sentence under the guidelines. Smith v. State, 678 So. 2d 1374 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

Ordinarily, the trial court's use of an incorrectly calculated score sheet requires the trial court to resentence with the use of a properly calculated score sheet. <u>Dawson v. State</u>, 532 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). Thus, a score sheet error is not subject to the harmless error rule when the deletion of improperly included points in the guideline score sheet results in a reduction of one or more cells. <u>Deparvine v. State</u>, 603 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

However, in circumstances where the appellate court is clearly convinced that the defendant would have received the same sentence not withstanding the score sheet error, the sentences been affirmed under the harmless error doctrine despite the erroneous score. Sellers v. State, 578 So. 2d 339 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). A score

sheet error has been found to be harmless when the corrected score sheet would place the defendant in the same cell, <u>Burrows v. State</u>, 649 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), or where the sentence was imposed in accordance with a valid plea agreement. <u>Orsi v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987). The rationale behind these holdings is that the error would not change the result because it either did not effect the cell in which the defendant was placed or the sentence would have been imposed regardless of the score sheet because it was the result of a plea. In each instance the sentence is upheld because it is evident that the defendant would have received the same sentence notwithstanding the error in the score sheet and the error is deemed harmless.

This same legal principle has been applied to departure sentences, where despite a score sheet error, the appellate court found that beyond a reasonable doubt the record establishes that the trial judge would have imposed the same departure sentence notwithstanding the score sheet error. Smith v. Singletary, 666 So. 2d 986 (Fla 4th DCA 1996); Hines v. State, 587 So. 2d 620 (Fla 2nd DCA 1991); Scott v. State, 469 So. 2d 865 (Fla 1st DCA 1985). The Third District herein disagreed with the foregoing legal principle.

The State submits that the Third District's decision should be quashed since it is out of step with the current view of harmless error in criminal cases. Section 924.051(7), Fla. Stat., (Supp. 1996) provides that a sentence may not be reversed absent an express finding that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court. Section 924.051(1), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1996) defines prejudicial error as an error in the trial

court that harmfully affected the sentence.

This Court in State v. Schopp, 653 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 1995) reiterated the principle that a per se reversible error rule is only appropriate for those errors that vitiate the right to a fair trial and therefore are always harmful. This Court then recognized that the per se reversible error rule for failing to hold a Richardson¹ hearing was not based on the fact that the failure to hold such a hearing always resulted in an unfair trial but the rule was based on the assumption that an appellate court can not be certain that errors of this type are harmful. This Court then receded from the per se reversible error rule by finding that while the foregoing assumption holds true in the majority of cases, there are cases where a reviewing court can say beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not prejudiced by the underlying violation and thus the failure to hold the hearing was harmless error. See Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279 (1991) (only those federal constitutional violations which are structural defects in the constitution of the trial mechanism are not subject to a harmless error analysis).

The State submits that a departure sentence which starts with an incorrect score sheet, is also one of those errors that does not vitiate the defendant's right to a fair trial and therefore should be subject to the harmless error doctrine. Just like a Richardson violation, the assumption that an appellate court can not be certain that errors of this type are harmful holds true in the majority of cases where a departure

¹ Richardson v. State, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971).

sentence starts with an incorrect score sheet. However there are cases where a reviewing court can say beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not prejudiced by the use of the incorrect score sheet since the record supports beyond a reasonable doubt the trial judge would have imposed the same departure sentence notwithstanding the score sheet error and thus the failure to hold the hearing was harmless error. Therefore, this Court should hold that departure sentences which contain an incorrect score sheet are subject to the harmless error doctrine.

The instant case is clearly one of those cases where this Court can say beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant was not prejudiced by the use of an incorrect score sheet since record establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that the trial judge would have imposed the same departure sentence notwithstanding the score sheet error. The record reflects that the trial court, after reviewing the incorrect score sheet which reflected a longer sentence than the correct score sheet, felt that the recommended guidelines did not reflect the nature of the offenses.

I feel however the recommended guidelines do not reflect the nature of those offenses. There is clearly a difference in my mind between a grand theft and the kind of thefts that were committed in this case.

I think that there is clearly a difference between someone who goes into a store and tries to pass a fraudulent check and someone who defrauds their employer and their position of trust. I think there is clearly a

of pants from Burdines, something of that nature and someone who actually goes to these extremes to commit a theft by painting graffiti and hateful words, not only anti-Semitic but other racial symbols and words upon the school in order to accomplish this deed.

I think that is not taken into consideration in the sentencing guidelines. But it is something that this Court must consider.

The burglaries too are different than probably most burglaries. The object was the same. It was to commit a theft, it was to steal. However it was not to just steal property once on the grounds.

It was to commit the theft and camouflage it so that it would draw suspicion away from Steven Rubin and Al Rubin so that it would basically allow the defendant to commit this crime without being detected.

I think that that is important. I think it's also important that the criminal mischief was not criminal mischief that was done out of anger or out of hatred or out of any retaliation because he did not like his workplace or felt he had been passed over by someone else for a

promotion.

It was done for no other reason than to camouflage
his own acts and greed at the expense of fourteen hundred
students and staff and I believe the community as well.

We don't know who it was, whether it was he himself or accomplices that did the damage in the March of 1994 incident. But clearly the May 1995 incident he did know in advance that juveniles were going to be used.

There was testimony at trial that Michael Brown told him that he -- Michael Brown was supposed to have committed these acts on a particular date. When that didn't happen Steven Rubin actually went to Michael Brown and said, why didn't you do what we had planned on doing?

And Mr. Brown said he basically chickened out or didn't want to do it. Then they discussed hiring the juveniles. The defendant agreed and approved the hiring of the juveniles and knew the juveniles were going to be used to carry out his acts.

That when the juveniles went back on the fourteenth and only slashed the two hundred and sixty seats in the buses that wasn't enough, that he went back and told

Michael Brown, the thousand dollars I promised you I'm only going to give you six hundred dollars because the job was not completed.

And you can receive the four hundred dollars remaining as soon as they go back and finished the job.

And these kids were sent back two days later in order to paint the graffiti because that's what Steven Rubin ultimately wanted done.

That to me was egregious. He knew full well he was soliciting the help of minors. Those minors were charged in this case and dealt with in the juvenile system.

I think the crimes were committed not only against the school, the students and the staff but the crimes were committed against the community at large.

We as a community struggle every day to try and fight bigotry and racism and anti Semitism and other hatred in our community. It divides us all on a daily basis. We struggle to try to bind all people together.

I even noted that some of the jurors in this case felt that they could not even sit and give the defendants a fair trial when they heard what the allegations were.

That it instills great anger in people and pain and

emotions in the people of the community. So I believe the crime was also a crime that affected the entire community.

I believe there are grounds for departure in both Al and Steven Rubin's cases....

(R 426-429).

The foregoing portions of the record clearly establishes that the trial court was not satisfied with the guideline sentence under the incorrect score sheet, which was in the State's favor. Clearly the trial court was going to depart from the guidelines if the proper score sheet was used which would have provided a lesser sentence. As such, the record is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the trial judge would have departed from the guidelines notwithstanding the incorrect score sheet.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner requests this Court quash the decision of the District Court and hold that the use of an incorrect sentencing guidelines score sheet is harmless error where the score sheet error is in the state's favor and the trial court sentence is an upward departure from the guidelines sentence.