IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 91,270

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

٧.

STEVEN RUBIN,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

IRA N. LOEWY, ESQ.
BIERMAN, SHOHAT, LOEWY,
PERRY & KLEIN, P.A.
Attorneys for the Respondent
800 Brickell Avenue
Penthouse Two
Miami, FL 33131-2944
Telephone: (305) 358-7000

Telephone: (305) 358-7000 Facsimile: (305) 358-4010

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The prevailing rule of law in this State is that a trial court must have the benefit of a properly prepared Score Sheet before it can make a fully informed decision on whether to depart from the recommended guideline sentence, and where an improperly calculated Score Sheet is utilized, an upward departure sentence must be vacated unless there is evidence disclosing, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the trial court would have departed to the extent it did, notwithstanding the fact that the presumptive sentence was less than that indicated by the Score Sheet. E.g. Smith v. Singletary, 666 So.2d 986 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Smith v. State, 678 So.2d 1374 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Moore v. State, 519 So.2d 22 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); Sellers v. State, 578 So.2d 339 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); Scott v. State, 469 So.2d 865 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Brown v. State, 508 So.2d 522 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). The State itself concedes in its brief that proper application of the Harmless Error Doctrine permits the reviewing court to uphold the departure sentence, notwithstanding the use of an incorrect Score Sheet, only if the Appellate Court finds "that beyond a reasonable doubt the record establishes that the trial judge would have imposed the same departure **sentence** notwithstanding the Score Sheet error." (State's Brief at 7-emphasis supplied). In this case, it cannot be said, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the record establishes that the trial judge would have imposed the same departure sentence had she had the benefit of a correctly calculated Score Sheet. Therefore, the District Court's rejection of the State's harmless error argument comports with the prevailing rule in Florida and does not conflict with any other Florida Court decision.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT'S RELIANCE UPON AN INCORRECT SENTENCING GUIDELINE SCORE SHEET, WHICH ERRONEOUSLY AND SUBSTANTIALLY INCREASED THE GUIDELINE CALCULATIONS, CANNOT BE CONSIDERED HARMLESS ERROR, WHERE IT CANNOT BE SAID BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE RECORD ESTABLISHES THAT THE TRIAL JUDGE WOULD HAVE IMPOSED THE SAME DEPARTURE SENTENCE NOTWITHSTANDING THE SCORE SHEET ERROR.

The Defendant is not sure why this case is before this Court, inasmuch as the decision of the District Court of Appeal does not depart from the prevailing rule of law in Florida with respect to the effect of score sheet errors and does not directly and expressly conflict with any other Florida Appellate Court decision, least of all the decision in *Hines* v. State, 587 So.2d 620 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). Simply stated, the rule followed in this State is that a trial court must have the benefit of a properly prepared score sheet before it can make a fully informed decision on whether to depart from the recommended guideline sentence, and where an improperly calculated score sheet is utilized, an upward departure sentence must be vacated unless there is evidence disclosing, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the trial court would have departed to the extent it did, notwithstanding the fact that the presumptive sentence was less than that indicated by the score sheet. E.g. Smith v. Singletary, 666 So.2d 986 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Smith v. State, 678 So.2d 1374 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Moore v. State, 519 So.2d 22 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); Sellers v. State, 578 So.2d 339 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); Scott v. State, 469 So.2d 865 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Brown v. State, 508 So.2d 522 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). As the State itself concedes in its brief, proper application of the harmless error doctrine permits the reviewing court to uphold a departure sentence, notwithstanding the use of an incorrect score sheet, **only** if the appellate court finds "that beyond a reasonable doubt the record establishes that the trial judge would have imposed **the same departure sentence** notwithstanding the score sheet error." (State's Brief at 7-emphasis supplied). In this case, it cannot be said, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the record establishes that the trial judge would have imposed the **same** departure sentence had she had the benefit of a correctly calculated score sheet. Accordingly, the district court's rejection of the State's harmless error argument comports with the prevailing rule in Florida and does not conflict with any other Florida appellate court decision, including *Hines v. State*, 587 So.2d 620 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991).

This conclusion is evident from the very authority cited by the State in its brief. Smith v. State, 678 So.2d 1378 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), cited by the State at Page 6 of its Brief, also was cited by the district court in its decision. (R460; A2). In Smith, the court reversed the trial court's imposition of an upward departure sentence and remanded for resentencing because of an improperly calculated score sheet. There, as here, the State argued that because the trial court imposed an upward departure, the score sheet error did not effect the defendant's sentence and was, therefore, harmless. The district court rejected this contention:

However, because the trial court might have imposed a different sentence if it had a correctly computed score sheet, appellant's sentence must be vacated. <u>See Zeigler v. State</u>, 647 So.2d 672 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). In accord with *Dawson v. State*, 532 So.2d 89 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) we hold that the "trial court must have the benefit of a properly prepared score sheet before it can make a fully informed decision on whether to

depart from the recommended guideline sentence." See also Davis v. State, 493 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

ld. at 1376.

The other cases cited by the District Court of Appeal in its decision in this case stand for the same proposition. Thus, in *Dawson v. State*, 532 So.2d 89 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), the district court reversed the defendant's sentence based upon the trial court's use of an incorrectly calculated score sheet, noting that "since the trial judge might have imposed a different sentence had he had the benefit of a corrected score sheet, defendant's sentence must be vacated." Id. at 90. In *Moore v. State*, 519 So.2d 22 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), a different panel of the Third District Court of Appeal reversed an upward departure sentence which was based upon an incorrectly calculated score sheet, noting that "[t]he trial court may well not wish to depart, or to depart so extensively, from a guideline sentence which is presumably substantially lower than the one which it previously considered when it imposed the original ten (10) year term." Id. at 23.

The other cases cited by the State in its brief also support this proposition. In *Scott v. State*, 469 So.2d 865 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), the State argued that because of the amount of the upward departure, the trial court's error in utilizing an improper score sheet was harmless. This argument was rejected by the court of appeals:

However, the combination of errors herein made it appear that the maximum guideline sentence available was twelve (12) years, not the actual maximum of seven (7) years. We cannot say that the court would have imposed twenty-five (25) year concurrent sentences had the correct information been before it.

<u>Id</u>. 469 So.2d at 867.

In Smith v. Singletary, the district court reversed the defendant's upward departure sentence, holding as follows:

An upward departure sentence based upon an erroneously calculated guideline score sheet can be upheld only if the trial court demonstrated that the departure sentence would have been imposed notwithstanding the score sheet error. We are compelled to reverse in the absence of evidence disclosing beyond a reasonable doubt that the trial court would have departed, to the extent it did, notwithstanding the fact that the presumptive sentence was less than that indicated by the score sheet. (Citations omitted).

Id. 666 So.2d at 987 (emphasis supplied).

A review of the cases reveals few instances in which appellate courts of this State have affirmed sentences under the Harmless Error Doctrine, notwithstanding the trial court's utilization of an incorrectly calculated score sheet. Indeed, the State apparently has not read the cases cited at Page 6 through 7 of its Brief very carefully, since in all but two of those cases the district courts reversed sentences based upon score sheet errors after applying the Harmless Error Doctrine and finding that the error was not harmless. Thus, in *Sellers v. State*, 578 So.2d 339 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), cited by the State at Page 6 of its Brief, the Court held that "applying the parameters of harmless error discerned from this cases, we conclude that the erroneous score sheet calculation in this case cannot be treated as harmless." Id. at 341. In *Burrows v. State*, 649 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), the Court reversed the Defendant's sentence noting that "the record is not clear that the Court would have imposed the same sentence in the absence of the score sheet error."

Only in two cases cited by the State in its Brief did a Court of appeals find the score sheet error to be harmless. In *Orsi v. State*, 515 So.2d 268 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), the record reflected that *Orsi* originally was charged with sexual battery, a capital felony. Rather than face the possibility of receiving a mandatory life sentence, *Orsi* was permitted to plead to the reduced charge of attempted sexual battery, in exchange for which he stipulated to a twenty (20) year sentence. Since the Court of Appeals was convinced, beyond a reasonable doubt that *Orsi* would have received the same twenty (20) year sentence, which was the result of a valid plea bargain, notwithstanding the score sheet error, the court found the score sheet error to be harmless.

The only other reported Florida decision cited by the State in which the Court of Appeals found the score sheet to have been harmless is *Hines v. State*, 587 So.2d 620 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). In *Hines*, where the victim apparently was raped six (6) times, the trial judge departed from the recommended guideline sentence on the basis of "extreme brutality on the part of defendant resulting in severe permanent physical and mental injury to victim." Id. at 621. Although the score sheet improperly assessed the victim's injury for six (6) separate convictions for sexual battery, the District Court found "beyond a reasonable doubt that the trial judge would have imposed the same departure sentence notwithstanding the score sheet error." Id.

The same conclusion cannot be reached here. For while the portion of the trial judge's sentencing colloquy which is quoted in the State's Brief certainly supports the proposition that the trial judge would have imposed some upward departure sentence had

a correct score sheet been utilized, it does not establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the same departure sentence would have been imposed.

For one thing, it is very clear from the sentencing transcript, that the trial judge considered the erroneous score sheet as the starting point for determining the extent to which she should depart from the recommended sentence. At the very outset of her sentencing colloquy, she states the following:

I think you have to look at also what they scored and the nature of the convictions. Al Rubin scores non-State prison. He could receive a sentence anywhere from probation up to a year in the Dade County Jail.

Under the guidelines Steve Rubin according to the State's calculations scores 31.785 points to 52.975 months, which is roughly two and a half (2-1/2) years, to just under four and a half (4-1/2) years.

(R426).

Only after stating this, does the Court go on to opine that the recommended guidelines do not reflect the nature of the offenses and to state her reasons for imposing upward departure sentences on both Defendants.

It is clear that at the time that the trial judge imposed sentence, she believed that Steven Rubin was facing a guideline sentencing range of approximately thirty-two (32) to fifty-three (53) months in prison, or a maximum sentence of "just under four and a half (4-1/2) years." (R426). The upward departure sentence she imposed on Steven Rubin was

eight (8) years in the State prison, which equals ninety-six (96) months, an increase by forty-three (43) months, or approximately three and one half (3-1/2) years over what she believed to be the maximum permitted under the guidelines.

Had the trial judge reviewed and utilized the Sentencing Score Sheet which had properly been calculated by the Probation Department, she would have known that the recommended guideline range for Steven Rubin ranged from 22.9 months to a maximum of 38.2 months in prison, a period of just over three (3) years and approximately fifteen (15) months less than that erroneously calculated by the State. (R280). Had the trial judge utilized the thirty-eight (38) months figure as her departure point and still departed to the same extent that she had in the sentence actually imposed, the resulting sentence would have been eighty-one (81) months in prison, instead of the ninety-six (96) months sentence that actually was imposed. In short, if we assume that had the trial judge had the benefit of the correctly calculated score sheet and had she departed to the same extent that she did utilizing the incorrectly calculated score sheet, then the error cannot be considered harmless because the fifteen (15) month difference between the correct and incorrect score sheets resulted in Steven Rubin receiving a sentence which was fifteen (15) months greater than that which he otherwise would have received. In short, there is nothing in this record which conclusively demonstrates, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Steven Rubin would have received the same ninety-six month sentence of imprisonment had the trial court utilized the correct score sheet.

Moreover, there are other factors present here which casts substantial doubt over whether the trial judge would sentence Steven Rubin to the same eight (8) year term of

imprisonment if he were to be resentenced utilizing a corrected score sheet. For one thing, a review of the sentencing transcript shows that the trial judge was concerned about the relative culpability of Steven Rubin, vis-a-vis his father Al Rubin and imposed departure sentences on both Defendants. Al Rubin's departure sentence, however, was reversed by the District Court of Appeal based upon the trial court's consideration of improper grounds for departure and his case was remanded to the trial court with directions for him to be resentenced to a guideline sentence of 364 days in jail followed by probation. (R461; A-3). We also know that at least two of the four grounds stated by the trial court to support her departure sentence for Steven Rubin, substantial economic hardship to the victim and the trial court's finding that Steven Rubin had testified falsely, were invalid, based upon the District Court's finding that there was an absence of a preponderance of proof that the victim indeed sustained a substantial economic hardship (R461; A-3) and based upon the State's confession of error before the District Court that a trial court's belief that a defendant testified falsely cannot form a basis for departure, under the authorities of Beaubais v. State, 475 So.2d 1342 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) and City of Daytona Beach v. Del Percio, 476 So.2d 197 (Fla. 1985).

Bearing in mind that the proper standard for harmless error analysis is not whether the State can demonstrate, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the trial court would have departed at all, but rather, whether the State can demonstrate, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the trial court would have departed to the extent that it did, it cannot be said, based upon this record, that the score sheet error was harmless. Defendant respectfully submits that based upon this record, the decision by the District Court of Appeal finding that the

score sheet error was not harmless is consistent with the prevailing case law in this State, which holds that a score sheet error can be harmless only if the Court of Appeals can find, beyond a reasonable doubt, not only that the trial court would have imposed an upward departure sentence, but that the trial court would have imposed exactly the same upward departure sentence had a correct score sheet been utilized. This Court either should approve of the decision of the Court of Appeals below or should find an absence of actual and direct conflict between decisions and decline to accept conflict jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court find that the trial court's reliance upon an incorrect Sentencing Guideline Score Sheet, which erroneously and substantially increased the guideline calculations, constituted error and that this error was not harmless under the facts of this case, since it cannot be said, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the trial court would have departed to the extent it did had a correct score sheet been utilized. Respondent respectfully urges this Court to approve the decision of the District Court below or, in the alternative, to conclude that the decision of the District Court does not expressly and directly conflict with any other Florida authority and to dismiss the State's Petition.